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STATE OF CONNECTICUT

CONNECTICUT SITING COUNCIL

Docket No. 548
Homeland Towers, LLC, and Cellco Partnership d/b/a
Verizon Wireless Application for a Certificate of
Environmental Compatibility and Public Need for the
Construction, Maintenance, and Operation of a
Telecommunications Facility and Associated Equipment
Located at 38 and 42A Hidden Brook Drive,

Brookfield, Connecticut.

Continued Zoom Remote Council Meeting
(Teleconference), on Tuesday, May 19, 2026, beginning

at 2 p.m.

Held Be fore:

JOHN MORISSETTE, THE VICE CHAIR
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A ppe ar ance s:
Councilmembers:

JOHN MORISSETTE (The Vice Chair)

BRIAN GOLEMBIEWSKI,

DEEP Designee

QUAT NGUYEN,

PURA Designee

CHANCE CARTER
KHRISTINE HALL
DR. SCOTT WILLIAMS

DANIEL P. LYNCH, JR.

Council Staff:

MELANIE BACHMAN, ESQ.,
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Executive Director and Staff Attorney

MICHAEL PERRONE,

Siting Analyst

LISA FONTAINE,

Administrative Support
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Appearance s:(cont'd)
For HOMELAND TOWERS, LLC (Applicant):
ROBINSON & COLE, LLP
280 Trumbull Street
Hartford, Connecticut 06103-3597
By: KENNETH C. BALDWIN, ESQ.
KBaldwin@rc.com

860.275.8200

For LAKE LILLINONAH SHORES CONDO ASSOCIATION NOS. 1 & 2
(Intervenors) :

RICHARD BALDELLT

For ELECTROMAGNETIC TECHNOLOGIES INDUSTRY, INC.:
(Intervenor) :
JOHN HOWARD

STEVE JALIL

For CEPA Intervener:

PASKA NAYDEN

For CEPA Intervener:

ELAINE SIMOES
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(Begin: 2:00 p.m.)

THE VICE CHAIR: Good afternoon, ladies and gentlemen.

This continued evidentiary hearing session is
called to order this Tuesday, May 19, 2026, at

2 p.m. My name is John Morissette, Vice Chair of
the Connecticut Siting Council.

If you haven't done so already, I ask that
everyone please mute your computer audio and/or
telephones now. Thank you.

A copy of the prepared agenda is available on
the Council's website, along with the record of
this matter, the Public Hearing Notice,
instructions for public access to this public
hearing, and the Council's citizen's guide to the
Siting Council's procedures.

Other members of the Council are Ms. Hall,
Mr. Carter, Dr. Williams, Mr. Syme, Mr. Lynch,

Mr. Golembiewski, and Mr. Nguyen. Members of the
staff are Executive Director Melanie Bachman,
Siting Analyst Michael Perrone, and Administrative
Support Lisa Fontaine.

This evidentiary session is a continuation of
the public hearing held on April 9, 2026. It is

held pursuant to provisions of Title 16 of the
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Connecticut General Statutes and of the Uniform
Administrative Procedure Act upon an application
from Homeland Towers, LLC, and Cellco Partnership,
d/b/a Verizon Wireless, for a Certificate of
Environmental Compatibility and Public Need for
the construction, maintenance, and operations of a
telecommunications facility and associated
equipment located at 38 and 42A Hidden Brook Drive
in Brookfield, Connecticut.

A verbatim transcript will be made of this
hearing and deposited with the Brookfield Town
Clerk's office for the convenience of the public.

The Council will take a 10- to 15-minute
break at a convenient juncture at around 3:30 p.m.

We will now continue with the appearance by
the Applicants. In accordance with the Council's
April 10, 2026, continued evidentiary hearing memo
we will continue with the appearance of the
Applicants, Homeland Towers, LLC, and Cellco
Partnership, d/b/a Verizon Wireless, to verify the
new exhibits marked as Roman numeral 2, items B6
and '7 on the hearing program.

Attorney Baldwin, good afternoon.

ATTORNEY BALDWIN: Good afternoon, Vice Chair

Morissette and members of the Council.
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We have two additional exhibits to offer into
the record in this afternoon's hearing. They are
labeled, as you stated, in items 2B, 6 and 7.

They are our responses to the Lake Lillinonah
Shores Condominium Association One and Two
interrogatories dated May 7th, and then our
responses to Elaine Simoes' interrogatories, also

dated May 7th.

ATTORNEY BALDWIN: We have an abbreviated verification

panel to verify these exhibits, and I would ask

R A VERGATTI,
MARTTIN LAVTIN,
DAV ID WEINPAHTL,
MARTTIN BROGTIE,
SEAN HOSEK,
MATTHETW ALLEN,

them the following questions.

of the responses to the interrogatories listed in
the hearing program under Roman two, section B,

items six and seven, Mr. Weinpahl?

recalled as witnesses, having been previously
duly sworn, were examined and testified under

oath as follows:

Did you prepare or assist in the preparation

Sanders, Gale & Russell | A Plus Reporting
Veritext Companies www.veritext.com



© 00 Jd4 o U1 dx W N BB

N N N N NN KB B B B B R B R B R
OO B W N B O VW ©® 4 o0 L & W N KB O

THE WITNESS (Weinpahl): Yes.

ATTORNEY BALDWIN:

THE WITNESS (Vergati): Yes.

ATTORNEY BALDWIN:
THE WITNESS (Hosek)
ATTORNEY BALDWIN:

THE WITNESS (Lavin)

ATTORNEY BALDWIN:

THE WITNESS (Brogie): Yes.

ATTORNEY BALDWIN:

modifications,

those exhibits at this time, Mr. Weinpahl?

THE WITNESS (Weinpahl): No.

ATTORNEY BALDWIN:

THE WITNESS (Vergati): No.

ATTORNEY BALDWIN:
THE WITNESS (Hosek)
ATTORNEY BALDWIN:
THE WITNESS (Lavin)

ATTORNEY BALDWIN:

THE WITNESS (Brogie): No.

ATTORNEY BALDWIN:

those exhibits true and accurate to the best of
your knowledge, Mr. Weinpahl?

THE WITNESS (Weinpahl): Yes.

Page 7

Mr. Vergati?

Mr. Hosek?
. Yes.
Mr. Lavin?
. Yes.

Mr. Brogie?

Do you have any corrections,

or amendments to offer to any of

Mr. Vergati?

Mr. Hosek?
: No.
Mr. Lavin?
: No.

And Mr. Brogie?

And is the information contained in

Sanders,
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ATTORNEY BALDWIN: Mr. Vergati?

THE WITNESS (Vergati): Yes.

ATTORNEY BALDWIN: Mr. Hosek?

THE WITNESS (Hosek): Yes.

ATTORNEY BALDWIN: Mr. Lavin?

THE WITNESS (Lavin): Yes.

ATTORNEY BALDWIN: Mr. Brogie?

THE WITNESS (Brogie): Yes.

ATTORNEY BALDWIN: And do you adopt the information in
those responses as your testimony in this
proceeding, Mr. Weinpahl?

THE WITNESS (Weinpahl): Yes.

ATTORNEY BALDWIN: Mr. Vergati®?

THE WITNESS (Vergati): Yes.

ATTORNEY BALDWIN: Mr. Hosek?

THE WITNESS (Hosek): Yes.

ATTORNEY BALDWIN: Mr. Lavin?

THE WITNESS (Lavin): Yes.

ATTORNEY BALDWIN: Mr. Brogie?

THE WITNESS (Brogie): Yes.

ATTORNEY BALDWIN: Vice Chair Morissette, I offer them
as full exhibits in this proceeding.

THE VICE CHAIR: Thank you, Attorney Baldwin.

Does any party or intervener object to the

admission of the Applicant's new exhibits?
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Richard Baldelli on behalf of Interveners
Lake Lillinonah Shores Condo Associations One and
Two. Mr. Baldelli?

RICHARD BALDELLI: No objection.

THE VICE CHAIR: Thank you.

First Selectman Dunn is not here with us this
afternoon.

John Howard and Steve Jalil?

JOHN HOWARD: No objection.

STEVE JALIL: No objection.

THE VICE CHAIR: Thank you. Paska Nayden?

PASKA NAYDEN: I don't have an objection right now, but
I do need some time to review those things again
because I can't even find them on the website.

So, is it on the actual Docket 548, or is it
somewhere else in the minutes and meetings? I
went to that section on the website.

I'm so sorry. I'm not in this business, you
know, over ten years or anything like that, so
this is a new process for all of us.

THE VICE CHAIR: Well, unfortunately, your time to
review is passing -- and it is on the website, I
believe. 1I'll confirm with Attorney Bachman. I
believe they are posted. Attorney Bachman?

ATTORNEY BACHMAN: That's correct, Vice Chair
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Morissette. They were posted upon receipt.

PASKA NAYDEN: Okay. So, it's right for the actual
Docket 548. 1It's not in a minutes meeting or
anything else like that. I got it. Thank you.

THE VICE CHAIR: Very good. Thank you.

Elaine Simoes?

ELAINE SIMOES: That's fine.

THE VICE CHAIR: No objection?

ELAINE SIMOES: No objection.

THE VICE CHAIR: Very good. The exhibits are hereby
admitted.

We will continue with cross-examination of
the Applicant on the new exhibits by the Council,
starting with Mr. Perrone, followed by Ms. Hall.

Mr. Perrone, good afternoon.

MR. PERRONE: Good afternoon, Mr. Vice Chair.

Referencing the transcript of the last
hearing, pages 19 and 20, what is the status of
the site plan and financial proposal for the
alternative access that was submitted to the condo
association for consideration?

THE WITNESS (Vergati): This is Ray Vergati, Homeland
Towers.

I can represent that Homeland Towers and Lake

Lillinonah Condo Association Number One and Condo
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Association Number Two have arrived and agreed
upon a number for the easement. Homeland
submitted a proposal and a draft site plan to the
condo presidents. That number was reviewed; the
condo countered with a 40 percent increase. We
looked at it and we agreed to it.

So, at the moment we're -- we're there where
we should be on the numbers; they're agreed to.
Right now, we are in the process of reviewing the
bylaws and title and deeds for the condo
properties.

MR. PERRONE: Moving on, on that topic of the alternate
access do you have any updates on how that
alternative might affect the utility route?

THE WITNESS (Weinpahl): Yes, David Weinpahl, On Air
Engineering.

The utility route could potentially change
from the condo property or it also could remain as
originally designed. That follow-up investigation
with Eversource has not taken place yet.

MR. PERRONE: Do you have any updates on the projected
tree removals for the alternate access since the
last hearing?

THE WITNESS (Weinpahl): Yes. David Weinpahl again.

We expect the tree count to remain or likely
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go down actually with this alternate route from
the condo property. 1It's very likely to come down
20 percent, say.

MR. PERRONE: Do you have a rough cost comparison of
the proposed versus the alternative access?

THE WITNESS (Weinpahl): David Weinpahl again.

No, we do not have a cost comparison at this
time for the road construction.

MR. PERRONE: Do you have an approximate cut and fill
comparison of alternate access versus proposed
access?

THE WITNESS (Weinpahl): David Weinpahl again.

That -- we could state for the alternate
access there is very limited cut and fill. It is
a fairly flat area that we're just traversing.
The grade would -- the grade increase would be
about approximately nine feet from where we would
curb cut off of the paved access roads and the
condo development to where the tower is
approximately 230 feet away.

So, this is very minimal grading. There is
virtually no cut to -- to that.

MR. PERRONE: And my next one -- I believe Mr. Vergati
said they were researching this, but are there any

known deed restrictions that would prevent the
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alternative access?
THE WITNESS (Vergati): This is Ray Vergati.

We've ordered title on the condo properties.
We're awaiting title. I'm not aware of any
restrictions at the moment, but once we receive
the title and documents we'll review them
in-house, obviously, to understand is there any
restrictions or covenants that would prevent
access coming in through the condo properties.

MR. PERRONE: Moving on to the transcript, page 24,
where there is discussion of the public safety
antennas. Would the tower be designed to
structurally accommodate all of the pending public
safety antennas?

THE WITNESS (Vergati): This is Ray Vergati, Homeland
Towers.

Yes, we would design the tower structurally,
both steel and foundation-wise to accommodate
public safety that's currently being proposed by
the Bridgewater Volunteer Fire Department for
placement of two antennas, as well as the Town of
Brookfield Public Safety for the placement of
three antennas for fire, police, and public works.

MR. PERRONE: Do you know how the public safety

antennas would affect the power density
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cumulatively?

THE WITNESS (Lavin): This is Martin Levin.

Their power levels are much, much lower than
ours. I wouldn't expect them to contribute even 1
percent more of the percent of MPE at the base of
the tower.

MR. PERRONE: Moving on to page 30 of the transcript,
there was discussion of access crossing a wetland
to reach the Town's preferred alternative at a
distance of approximately 1500 feet from the high
school.

My question is, at that distance is it
necessary to cross a wetland with the access?

ATTORNEY BALDWIN: Mr. Perrone, can we just get a
clarification? You're talking about the access to
the alternative site that was discussed on the
high school property?

MR. PERRONE: Yes.

ATTORNEY BALDWIN: Okay.

MR. PERRONE: Yeah. Page 30 of the transcript, there
was mention of a wetland crossing for the access
to that I believe at 7 Long Meadow Hill Road.

THE WITNESS (Vergati): This is Ray Vergati, Homeland
Towers.

We had walked the site with the Town as well
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with our A and E. The proposed access road, there
were two points of entry; one was to go up an
existing trail, per se, that a hundred percent
crosses a wetland. There's a culvert that's
currently there.

There was another option to go a little
further to the north behind the tennis court
locations. There's also an intermittent stream,
what I believe was some underground piping that
goes through there as well. And, you know, either
location would involve crossing of the wetland.

MR. PERRONE: Moving on to page 55 of the transcript,
how would Homeland control stormwater runoff
during the construction of the proposed access?

THE WITNESS (Weinpahl): Yes, David Weinpahl.

The stormwater plans identify all the means
that are going to be used through silt fencing and
other measures. We also discussed at the original
hearing doubling up silt fence in the steeper
areas as was a concern brought up in that design.

MR. PERRONE: As far as the alternative access, how
would you control stormwater, stormwater runoff
during the construction of the alternative access?

THE WITNESS (Weinpahl): Again, David Weinpahl.

That that's a much shallower path, less
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grading. We would likely deploy some swales with
infiltration for controlling the water before it
even touches the condo paved driveway that we
would start our road off of.

Again, that will all be controlled and
erosion controls put in place prior to any
construction, the silt fencing and whatever else
is required.

PERRONE: Also related to the alternative access,
if that access is selected, if the project is
approved would that access comply with the
Connecticut guidelines for soil erosion and
sediment control?

WITNESS (Weinpahl): David Weinpahl again.

Yes, it would.

PERRONE: And also, would it comply with the
Connecticut stormwater quality manual?

WITNESS (Weinpahl): David Weinpahl again.

Yes, it would.

PERRONE: And the next topic is RF. Would ETI's
technology potentially work for Cellco if they
utilized an antenna system from JMA, an approved
vendor of Cellco?

WITNESS (Vergati): I'm not sure what the question

is. ETI is proposing an antenna and you're -- and
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we're putting our antennas up as well. But the
JMA antennas, the one we're intending to use,
we're talking about using both together.

MR. PERRONE: I believe if ETI's alternative was used
in lieu of the proposed, if ETI utilized the JMA
antennas, would that potentially work as an
alternative?

THE WITNESS (Vergati): You'd have to ask ETI if they
can use JMA's antennas. I don't know if they can.
For us, it's -- we have no -- they're not an
approved vendor and we have no indication that the
ETI antennas will work for us.

MR. PERRONE: And lastly, moving on to Council
Interrogatory 24. 1Is the tower at 37 Carmen Hill
Road that hosts Cellco's co-location, is that
tower expandable in height?

ATTORNEY BALDWIN: Mr. Perrone, I'm not sure anyone on
our panel can answer the question regarding this,
the structural integrity of that tower.

I apologize.

MR. PERRONE: Thank you. That's all I have.

THE VICE CHAIR: Thank you, Mr. Perrone.

We'll now continue the cross-examination of
the Applicant on the new exhibits by Ms. Hall
followed by Mr. Carter.
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Ms. Hall, good afternoon.

HALL: Good afternoon. I want to thank Mr. Perrone
for his questions. He asked the questions that I
had about the status of the alternate approach.

And I have no further questions. Thank you.

VICE CHAIR: Thank you, Ms. Hall.

We'll now continue the cross-examination by
Mr. Carter followed by Dr. Williams.
Good afternoon, Mr. Carter.

CARTER: Good afternoon, Mr. Vice Chair. I hope
that you are enjoying fake summer, or I guess our
first heat wave.

I don't have any further questions. Thank
you.

VICE CHAIR: Very good. Thank you, Mr. Carter.

We'll now continue the cross-examination on
the new exhibits by Dr. Williams followed by
Mr. Golembiewski. Dr. Williams, good afternoon.

WILLIAMS: Good afternoon.

I have nothing at this time. Thank you.

VICE CHAIR: Very good. We'll now continue the
cross-examination on the new exhibits by
Mr. Golembiewski followed by Mr. Nguyen.

Mr. Golembiewski, good afternoon.

GOLEMBIEWSKI: Good afternoon. I have no questions
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on the new exhibits. Thank you.

VICE CHAIR: Thank you. We'll continue the
cross-examination on the new exhibits by
Mr. Nguyen followed by Mr. Syme.

Mr. Nguyen, good afternoon.

NGUYEN: Good afternoon.

No additional questions from me. Thank you.

VICE CHAIR: Very good. Thank you.

We'll continue the cross-examination by
Mr. Syme. I don't believe he's on as of yet, but
we'll skip over and go to Mr. Lynch.

Good afternoon, Mr. Lynch.
LYNCH: Good afternoon.

I have no further questions.

VICE CHAIR: Very good. Thank you. I too would
like to thank Mr. Perrone for his detailed
analysis of the alternative and his questions.
And I have no further questions. Thank you.

With that, we'll continue the
cross-examination of the Applicant on the new
exhibits by Lake Lillinonah Shores Condo
Association One and Two. Richard Baldelli,

please. Good afternoon, Mr. Baldelli.

RICHARD BALDELLI: Good afternoon.

Am I coming through this time?
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THE VICE CHAIR: Yes, you are. Thank you.

RICHARD BALDELLI: Great. I want to thank the Siting
Council for giving us the opportunity to express
our views on this application.

A VOICE: (Unintelligible.)

RICHARD BALDELLT: I'm sorry? Oh.

ATTORNEY BALDWIN: A question, Vice Chair Morissette?

If we could ask our friends from ETI to mute
their phone, that would be helpful.

THE VICE CHAIR: Yes, if we could? If ETI could mute
their phones, please. We're getting some
feedback. Thank you.

Let's try it again.

RICHARD BALDELLI: Okay. Well, I start out with a
thank you again. Can't hurt. So again, we thank
the Siting Council for giving us this opportunity.

And I do wish to clarify that pursuant to a
tentative verbal agreement with Mr. Vergati from
Homeland to paint, slash, color the tower from the
treeline down a darkish-type color, and from the
treeline up a lightish-type color, and a dark
color on the compound fencing, that LLSCA does not
have an actual objection to the cell tower itself.

Having said that, I will also let you know

that in addition to the collective knowledge of
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LLSCA One and Two's board of directors and our
residents, the following questions are based on 37
years of hands-on experience in the review,
inspection, monitoring and enforcement of erosion
and sedimentation controls and the environmental
protection of open-space municipal properties,
privately-owned properties down to a half acre,
and up to 300 acres for the Boehringer Ingelheim
USA headquarters.

Having said that, our comments are mostly
directed onto the site evaluation report and
project which is literally item number one in the
submission from Homeland to the Council. And
pursuant to a lack of a revised erosion and
sedimentation plan being submitted, our concerns
remain and continue to be a lack of confidence in
the driveways' construction -- I'm sorry -- the

construction of the driveways --

THE VICE CHAIR: Mr. Baldelli?
RICHARD BALDELLI: Yes?

THE VICE CHAIR: I'm going to interrupt you there.

This is not the time to give testimony. This is
your opportunity to ask questions of the

Applicant.

RICHARD BALDELLI: Right. So, that was going to end in
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a question, but --

THE VICE CHAIR: Okay. Very good.

RICHARD BALDELLI: I will get to the question quicker
then.

THE VICE CHAIR: Thank you.

RICHARD BALDELLI: Not having any faith in the erosion
control plan that's submitted, we are asking
Homeland if they will submit a more robust erosion
and sedimentation control plan that will prohibit
a literally downward shoot of sediment to the town
road and the adjacent LLSCA property. That's one
question.

And -- well, in regards to their construction
entrance --

ATTORNEY BALDWIN: Mr. Baldelli, why don't we take them
one at a time, if you don't mind?

THE VICE CHAIR: Please respond. Thank you.

THE WITNESS (Weinpahl): Yes, David Weinpahl.

I believe some of these items came up earlier
on the soil erosion control, a request to
double-silt fencing in some areas of the property.
And we don't object to doing that. We could
certainly revise the plans. We would do that as
part of the D and M filing that the Council

typically follows after this, this phase is
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complete.

There was also mentioning of an increased
access, construction access road, which we would
be okay as well implementing into a D and M plan.
The entire road design is virtually complete. It
is before the Council in the plans you have right
now. There will be some fairly minor tweaking to
that in the D and M filing.

We have calculations backed up in the office.
If they are requested, we can provide calculations
to justify the entire road design that is before

us today.

RICHARD BALDELLI: Next question?
THE VICE CHAIR: Please do.

RICHARD BALDELLI: Okay. In regards to that

construction entrance, the erosion and
sedimentation control standards mandate that it be
a minimum of 50 to a hundred feet. As we all
know, the current one is at the very minimum and
it doesn't have any water breaks or anything.

Will Homeland consider during construction
turning the entire length of that, of the 600-foot
downhill length into a construction entrance?

End of question.

THE WITNESS (Weinpahl): David Weinpahl again.
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As was stated, we -- we have met the minimum
requirement. I believe we would be open to
increasing that perhaps up to a hundred feet. We
could further evaluate the early steep portion of
the road as it's currently designed.

I don't know that we're going to agree to
come up the full length of the -- of the access
road as it continues to go upland on that. That
could be, again, another portion of the filing for
the D and M set that the Council would receive.

We will consider it, though.

RICHARD BALDELLI: Thank you.

The next several questions have to do with
the property line infringement based on the plan
identified as C-3 and C-9. A review of the plan
shows that approximately 230 feet up from Hidden
Brook, there appears to be a conflict with the
LLSCA property line for about a hundred feet. And
then 20 feet above that, there's a
twelve-inch-high landscaped block wall that looks
like it's sitting right on the property line.

During the May 7th -- or in your May 7th
response, in regards to the property line
infringement, Homeland stated Homeland has no

intention and no legal right to encroach onto the
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LLSCA property.

Will Homeland be willing to resubmit plans to
the Siting Council clearly showing, not only will
the Homeland not encroach on our LLSCA property
with its erosion controls, it will also not permit
its E and S installation crew to trespass onto the

LLSCA property?

THE WITNESS (Weinpahl): Yes, David Weinpahl again.

If -- if the plans implied we were doing
that, that was not the intent. The entire
facility will be constructed on our property and
the easement property that we're using for access.
That can be also updated in the D and M filing
before the Council.

And in instances like this, we have the
property line staked by land surveyor prior to any
construction, so we'll know exactly where that
property line is. No stone walls will be removed
of any nature and we will shift a few feet over as
needed to get in E and S controls and the

remainder of our -- our work.

RICHARD BALDELLI: My followup to that question is

another question. It says -- well, LLSCA believes
that the Homeland's non-encroachment statement is

in contradiction to the plans that are on files.
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What guarantees will Homeland provide that it
will not perform any excavation, filling and
grading and final grading, including the drainage
basin at the bottom of the slope onto the LLSCA
property line?

Would you be willing to post a surety or a
cash bond to guarantee that?

ATTORNEY BALDWIN: Vice Chair Morissette, excuse me.
I'm going to object to the question. We're
outside the scope of the last two exhibits that
were submitted, point one. But again, these are
questions that have been asked and answered in
interrogatory responses and at the last hearing.

We're happy to review them again, but I think
it's already in the record what the Applicant's
response is to those questions.

THE VICE CHAIR: Thank you, Attorney Baldwin.

Mr. Baldelli, the line of questioning is to
keep it associated with responses to six and seven
that are in the hearing program. We have
discussed this already. The previous response,
although it did not address posting the bond --
and posting the bond is not something that the
Siting Council has jurisdiction over.

So, I will not let the panel answer that
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question because we have no jurisdiction over
requirements of posting a bond for that type of
work.

So, if you could continue with your
questions, please?

RICHARD BALDELLI: Okay, thank you.

THE VICE CHAIR: Thank you.

RICHARD BALDELLI: Now I'm going to discuss briefly or
ask about the drainage for this driveway during
post construction. And you're showing a 600-foot
downhill run with eight 10-inch check dams.

Are you confident that the swales as shown
will be able to accommodate the now common climate
change downpours of one to three inches per hour
during the summer?

THE WITNESS (Weinpahl): Yes, David Weinpahl again.

The swales are designed along in conjunction
with the road to handle that, that runoff. We
used a ten-year storm in our model here. And
again, calculations can support the design for the
number of swales, the number of check dams, the
sizing and all of the water volume that was
determined.

RICHARD BALDELLI: Thank you.

And at the very bottom of this 600-foot run,
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the drainage system makes a 90-degree turn, and
then you go on to say that it will result in a net
zero runoff. Is that accurate in that it's going
to come down 600 feet, make a 90 degree turn at

the bottom and you'll have net zero runoff?

Yes -- well, you're not going to have 600
feet of water all coming to the one point. 1It's
going to work through the swale system and the
check dams upstream from the last check dam at the
base before the 90 degree turn of the pipe, which
if that's a very big concern, we can soften up
that angle, which then goes into our catchment
area.

So again, the design that's before us has
been checked several times and verified, and we

don't have an issue with this functioning.

ten-inch-high check dams can accommodate the
typical sediment and debris that comes down?
Because I don't see where you have submitted a
drainage system maintenance and management plan.

So, how will debris accumulation, leaf
droppings and so on be done to keep a

ten-inch-high -- which is not wvery high, really --
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check dam from becoming blocked and pretty much
useless over a period of time?

THE WITNESS (Weinpahl): Yes, David Weinpahl.

During the construction phase, those -- that
can be removed during construction as visible.
For long-term maintenance that will be addressed
in the D and M plans that would be filed with the
Council as the next stage here in terms of having
the swales, the check dams monitored and cleaned
to function properly.

RICHARD BALDELLI: Okay. So, I understand that this
other plan you just mentioned would encompass or
would -- a part of that would be a drainage system
maintenance and management plan? So, I'm not
familiar with the process on your end, so.

THE WITNESS (Weinpahl): Yeah, that is correct.

RICHARD BALDELLI: Okay. Thank you.

And I sort of have a rhetorical question at
the moment, and I'll go off the last sentence that
was there. 1Is homeland confident that this
drainage system will have a zero net runoff? And
will you guarantee that the drainage system will
have no impact on the town roadway and the LLSCA
property, both during construction and post

construction?
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THE WITNESS (Weinpahl): David Weinpahl, once again.

Yes, that is correct. We will have zero net
runoff in our design, and the plans have indicated
that.

RICHARD BALDELLI: Thank you. One more mini group of
questions and I will be out of everyone's way.

In the application it states that the cell
tower and its construction may affect, but not
adversely affect the northern long-eared bat,
which is a federally endangered species; and the
tricolored bat, which is a federally proposed
endangered species.

Will Homeland be willing to submit their
biological study that substantiates that
statement? I couldn't find it in the application.
If it's there, just tell me where it is, please.

THE WITNESS (Hosek): This is Sean Hosek with Trileaf.

So, we have submitted the submissions for
those in attachment ten.

ATTORNEY BALDWIN: Attachment ten of the application,
Mr. Baldelli.

RICHARD BALDELLI: I'm sorry, say it again, please?

ATTORNEY BALDWIN: In the application itself,
attachment ten.

RICHARD BALDELLI: Okay. All right. Thank you for
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doing that for me.

ATTORNEY BALDWIN: Sure.

RICHARD BALDELLI: Okay. And finally, in response to
this question earlier, LLSCA inquired about the
bear, the deer, the turkeys, the bobcats and the
foxes that constantly transverse both properties,
and Homeland stated that as they were not, that
wildlife was not classified as federally
enhanced -- federally endangered species, they
wouldn't generate a biological assessment thereto.

Since the prevalence of that wildlife is
rather heavy and anticipating that construction
would most likely be a warm-weather event and when
these critters are around a lot, we are again
asking if Homeland would consider performing a
biological assessment of the wildlife during the
construction phase of this project.

THE WITNESS (Vergati): Ray Vergati, Homeland Towers.

We wouldn't see the need to provide such
report. In response to this being construction in
warm weather, taking effect or taking -- occurring
during warm weather, we have a time-of-year
tree-clearing restriction that runs between April
15th through September 30th.

So, if this docket is approved, we would most
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likely be constructing outside of the warm-weather
conditions.

RICHARD BALDELLI: Okay. So, I'm taking that as a hard
no to that last question.

THE WITNESS (Vergati): Ray Vergati, Homeland Towers.

If it's not required, it would be a hard no.

RICHARD BALDELLI: Okay. Thank you.

Mr. Morissette, I am all finished.

Again, thank you very much to the Council and
to Homeland for tolerating my questions again.

THE VICE CHAIR: Thank you, Mr. Baldelli.

We'll continue cross-examination of the
Applicants on the new exhibits by the Town of
Brookfield. Unfortunately, First Selectman Dunn
was unable to join us this afternoon. So, we will
continue with John Howard and Steve Jalil.

Good afternoon.

JOHN HOWARD: Good afternoon.
STEVE JALIL: Good afternoon. This is Steve Jalil from
ET Industries, ETI.

I just want to clarify the question before
from Mr. Perron, which was a very good question.
In the prior meeting it was stated that ETI, ET
Industries is not an approved vendor by Verizon.

Therefore, we have proposed an antenna by an
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approved vendor that they do have approved, JMA,

which will increase the coverage as opposed to the

current antenna that they're utilizing. That

would be model MX04FR0845-02E. It has about a 15

dB gain at 700 megahertz. We propose a model that

is at 700 megahertz from the approved vendor, JMA.
Why hasn't the Verizon and the RF team

proposed a higher-gain antenna like MX06FHG665-HG?

THE WITNESS (Lavin): This is Martin Lavin. We got

your filing. You just sent us the cut sheet and
no explanation of why you had sent it. So, we
haven't done any work in that regard.

Verizon RF has carefully selected the antenna
they have and are confident that that's the

antenna that's needed here.

STEVE JALIL: In your coverage map at 700 megahertz, it

has shown that coverage at about 3 kilometers from
Carmen Hill Road is no longer -- let's say, it's a
dead zone at 3 kilometers from Carmen Hill Road
from that existing tower, which you're utilizing a
15 dB gain antenna.
Is that the case where you concluded that at

3 kilometers from Carmen Hill Road the signal is
dead at 700 MHz? 1Is that the 15 dB antenna you're

utilizing to come to that conclusion?
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ATTORNEY BALDWIN: Vice Chair Morissette, I'm going to

JOHN

object to the question. The first question was
close, but it was an extension of Mr. Perrone's
question, so I didn't object.

But I'll object to this one because now we
are outside the scope of the current proceedings,
which relates to the last two exhibits that
Verizon submitted.

HOWARD: Okay. This is John Howard. I would like

to ask a question, if I may?

THE VICE CHAIR: Well, let's clear up this other one

JOHN

first before we continue. Mr. Baldwin's objection
will be sustained.

And I suggest, Mr. Jalil, if you have further
comments, that you include them in your brief as
to what your arguments are associated with the
point that you're trying to make here.

We will now continue with Mr. Howard.

Go ahead, Mr. Howard.

HOWARD: Thank you very much.

Could you tell me what the declination of the

antenna on Carmen Hill is towards the direction

where there is no service?

ATTORNEY BALDWIN: Again, Mr. Morissette, I'm going to

object to the question. It's outside of the scope
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of the current proceeding.

JOHN HOWARD: It's exactly in the scope of the current

session because that will extend or not extend

coverage. So, it is important to know if Verizon

did their work correctly or not.

THE VICE CHAIR: Well, we are currently reviewing the
new exhibits filed by the Applicants, and that
question is not part of those responses at all.

So --

JOHN HOWARD: So --

THE VICE CHAIR: -- it is outside the scope. And
again, if you want to make a point, you're more
than willing to file a brief.

JOHN HOWARD: All right. We will do it.

THE VICE CHAIR: Please continue. Anything else?

JOHN HOWARD: No, that's fine. Thank you.

THE VICE CHAIR: Thank you.

Mr. Jalil, anything else?
STEVE JALIL: No, that's fine. I just wanted to

clarify why the JMA antenna at 700 megahertz was

not considered in the planning. So, that's fine.

Thank you very much.
THE VICE CHAIR: Very good. Thank you.
We'll continue cross-examination of the

Applicants on the new exhibits by Paska Nayden.
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Paska Nayden, please. Good afternoon.

PASKA NAYDEN: Thank you. Good afternoon, and thank

you, Chairman. I appreciate the opportunity. I'm
going to keep mine short, and I will follow
through a supplemental filing based on some of the
comments that were made here.

But one of my key questions -- and I don't
know if it's already been provided, so I apologize
if you already have. One of the key questions the
Town has always struggled with is, have we
established empirically that there is a public
need for this tower? And that placement
specifically in the spots that have been selected,
do we have the appropriate empirical data versus
propagation maps? Are they on the record? That's

all I'm asking right now.

ATTORNEY BALDWIN: Vice Chair Morissette, I think the

Applicant would stand by the information that is
provided in its application as a justification for
need as well as testimony provided at the last
hearing, as well as our responses to
interrogatories that the Applicant has filed in
response to the Council and other parties and
interveners.

So, yeah, we rely on the record as it
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currently stands.

THE VICE CHAIR: Thank you, Attorney Baldwin.

PASKA NAYDEN: Okay. May I ask another question,
please?

THE VICE CHAIR: Certainly. Please continue.

PASKA NAYDEN: Okay. You know, based on where this is
placed and how high it's placed and how far the
specifics are, you've selected a 5G spectrum, 3700
megahertz. 1Is that correct that that will also be
housed on this tower, or has something changed?

THE WITNESS (Lavin): It is one of the many frequencies
to be on this tower. I believe all of Verizon's
license frequencies will be on the tower from 700
up to 3700.

PASKA NAYDEN: Okay. But we know that that has
diminishing return for anybody and the end users.
So, I'm just curious as to how this committee has
selected that for public need. What is the stated
public need for that frequency?

Because we know distance is very limited, and
based on height and where it's located, I don't --
I personally don't understand what the public need
would be for that where it is.

Usually those are put in high urban areas

because most effectively they're at, like, a mile
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and a half, no more than two. So, I just would
like to understand what the public need for it is.

THE WITNESS (Lavin): This is Martin Lavin again.

The public need is for coverage in this area,
as documented in the application and in our
interrogatories. 1Inclusion of 3700 on the tower
or AWS/PCS, any of the mid- to high-band
frequencies doesn't affect the 700 megahertz
coverage at all.

There's really no reason not to put every
frequency on there. The addition of more
frequencies does not limit the coverage of the
low-band frequencies at all.

PASKA NAYDEN: Well, I understand the 700 and the
telecom and the cell phone coverage, but this
frequency is predominantly about data collection.
So again, the population in that wvicinity, I just
think that -- again, I would love to see a
documented public need for the data piece of this
and why it would be needed on this tower since
Brookfield already has many, many towers -- and
that's another point. So, I talked about public
need.

The other point that I'd like to understand

is the cumulative. Brookfield already has,
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like -- what? Twelve, 14, 15 towers, and so many
more 5Gs and other terrestrial antennas. What's

the cumulative analysis that FCC does require for
you? Earlier someone indicated maybe it's, like,
1 percent in impact.

Do we have that empirically stated, that all
of the various antennas in the vicinity have been
evaluated for the cumulative RF and EMF impact?

THE WITNESS (Lavin): This is Martin Lavin again.

It's been evaluated for all the frequencies
on this tower. Cumulatively speaking, from towers
that are all over a mile away, any additional
effect would be negligible. 1It's not part of the
analysis under OET 65.

PASKA NAYDEN: Okay. So, if I'm living within a mile
and I put my EMF reader in my bedroom, you're
saying that my EMF/RF reader, you're saying that
it would be negligible? I would not see a tick up
in the radiation emissions?

Again, this is cumulative because all of
these antennas, you know they propagate, they
harmonize, they heterodyne, they change. And so,
you're saying that a family with the children
sleeping in the bedroom will not feel that

cumulative impact?
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ATTORNEY BALDWIN: Vice Chair Morissette, I'm going to

object to the question. One, we're outside the

scope of the current interrogatories.

close to it the last question.

We were

But also, now we're starting to get into the

question of health effects, which are,
Siting Council states --
PASKA NAYDEN: No, no --
ATTORNEY BALDWIN: -- in the statement --
PASKA NAYDEN: I'm sorry.
ATTORNEY BALDWIN: Excuse me, Miss --
PASKA NAYDEN: I object.

ATTORNEY BALDWIN: Excuse me.

as the

PASKA NAYDEN: I object to that. 1It's not health.

THE VICE CHAIR: Ms. Nayden, let Attorney Baldwin

finish, please.

ATTORNEY BALDWIN: We have demonstrated in the

application that the facility will comply with the

FCC standards, and that's our obligation. And I

think we'll rely on that testimony and that

evidence that is currently in the record.

THE VICE CHAIR: Go ahead, Ms. Nayden. Your response-?

Ms. Nayden?
PASKA NAYDEN: Oh, I'm sorry. I got muted.

sorry. I was looking at that.

Okay. I'm
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THE VICE CHAIR: Yeah. Going forward, please don't
interrupt when somebody is speaking.

PASKA NAYDEN: Oh, I'm sorry about that. That is
something rude on my part, so I apologize.

THE VICE CHAIR: Okay. So your --

PASKA NAYDEN: But can I just -- can I -- I'm sorry.

THE VICE CHAIR: Your question is outside of the scope
of the hearing this afternoon.

PASKA NAYDEN: Uh-huh.

THE VICE CHAIR: And the FCC sets the standards for
health effects. So, your questions are going way
over out of bounds here. So, if you have any
further questions, please continue.

PASKA NAYDEN: I appreciate the only reason I was
objecting -- if I may?

THE VICE CHAIR: Please.

PASKA NAYDEN: Because I was not asking about health
effects. I was asking about cumulative effects,
the radiation cumulative effects that would be in
the environment. So I --

THE VICE CHAIR: Yes, and that is also outside the
scope of our review here.

PASKA NAYDEN: Okay.

THE VICE CHAIR: Okay. Anything else?

PASKA NAYDEN: Thank you so much.
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THE VICE CHAIR: Very good. Thank you.

We'll continue the cross-examination of the
Applicants on the new exhibits by Elaine Simoes.
Elaine, good afternoon.

ELAINE SIMOES: Good afternoon. Thank you for allowing
me to speak. I have several questions regarding
my questions, the first being the response to my
second question regarding coverage.

How are the propagation models created?

THE WITNESS (Lavin): This is Martin Lavin.

We use a propagation tool, Decibel Planner
2.0. We have done hundreds of drive tests across
Connecticut and across New England to calibrate
the model. We do a statistical comparison between
those and we have at the various frequencies, and
we've developed the models based on that, how well
they correlate with measured data.

Our models predict -- very predictably
produce very accurate results.

ELAINE SIMOES: How do antennas work? Do you point
them at different directions to cover certain
areas?

THE WITNESS (Lavin): Yes. In the case of this site,
we have four sectors, I believe, and they are

roughly 90 degrees away from each other and as a
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way to separate the traffic in different
directions and increase capacity.

ELAINE SIMOES: So, when you created your propagation
maps for before the cell tower, you were able to
set the antennas for those maps pointing in any
different ways. Is that correct?

THE WITNESS (Lavin): When we created the existing
coverage maps, we set the antennas at the azimuths
that they are currently set at by Verizon.

ELAINE SIMOES: Just today, someone drove part of the
areas that you claim have gaps and they showed two
bars. Why would that be true?

THE WITNESS (Lavin): I have no idea where this is.
There's no exact correlation between bars on your
phone and what the signal strength is. There are
areas in this area that have sufficient coverage
for in-vehicle or in-building coverage.

So, without knowing exactly where they were,
the -- it's hard to say exactly what the
consequences of that are, especially since there's
no set correlation between bars on the phone and
the measured signal strength.

ELAINE SIMOES: How do bars correspond to signal
strength? I thought that meant signal strength.

THE WITNESS (Lavin): It's basically cumulative for the
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whole spectrum that's coming in. We're all on
every frequency. All the sites are on the same
frequency and are divided by codes. That's an
overall measure of strength on that frequency,
including all of the -- the serving signal and all
of the others as well.

And it is -- there is no standard, so it's
different phone by phone what those bars
represent.

ELAINE SIMOES: So, from what I was told, Muirwood
Court, Murphys Lane, Merwin Brook, all those areas
were covered today and the bars fluctuate. So,
you're saying you have no impact on that
functuation -- fluctuation, pardon me, and cannot
say why there's coverage as opposed to your gaps
showing that there's not?

THE WITNESS (Lavin): I don't know. I have no idea
what phone it was. I have no idea how the bars
correlate to the actual signal strength. I have
no way of knowing/evaluating exactly where it was
on these roads that the measurements were taken.

So, there's really no way for me to comment
conclusively on whether this is relevant or not.

ELAINE SIMOES: You mentioned -- I mentioned the FCC

broadband map, and it has a fixed broadband and a
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broadband mobile. And the fixed shows a hundred
percent coverage. The broadband shows a tiny,
tiny amount missing on Lake Lillinonah, but yet

your gaps show something higher.

THE WITNESS (Lavin): Yeah --
ELAINE SIMOES: Can you explain?

THE WITNESS (Lavin): There are many more settings in

there that have to be done, and if you just go
with the default settings -- and those hexagons
are over a hundred times more coarse than are the
bins we use for propagation prediction. And the
hexagons have only seven coverage levels; it will
show full coverage when you first get into there
if that hexagon only has 14 and a half percent
coverage.

If you set the coverage levels much higher,
if you set the available technology to the proper
4G or 5G, there's two different speeds there. And
also there's an option for in-vehicle coverage.
Much of the coverage in this area disappears and
it looks an awful lot like our propagation maps,
even though those hexagons are a hundred times as

large.

ELAINE SIMOES: Interesting, because I drive -- I live

in Barkwood Falls community, which is a hundred
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homes, and I drive through the community and I
don't see those gaps. And I do have Verizon as my
carrier and I've also driven through 133, and
don't see those map coverages missing.

My question is, would you consider showing a
drive test to prove your propagation maps?

THE WITNESS (Lavin): In our opinion, we've developed
the propagation models to the extent where the --
the drive tests are no longer necessary. Our
accuracy is -- is very high. There's no necessity
to be driving through there, and we have not done
a specific drive test for this area.

ELAINE SIMOES: When you do drive tests, can we get
information showing the drive test versus the gap
that you submitted for other dockets?

I believe it will show a difference.

ATTORNEY BALDWIN: Vice Chair Morissette, I'm not -- is
there a question there? Yeah, or is --

ELAINE SIMOES: The question is --

ATTORNEY BALDWIN: -- is it relevant at all to this?

ELAINE SIMOES: Have they done drive tests for other
dockets to compare what their model shows?

THE WITNESS (Lavin): We have in some dockets and not
in others.

ELAINE SIMOES: Could you please submit to CT Siting
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the dockets that show the drive test versus your
model?

ATTORNEY BALDWIN: 1I'll object to the question,

Mr. Morissette. We rely on the docket and the
information contained in the docket that's before
the Council to justify the need for this facility.

THE VICE CHAIR: Thank you, Attorney Baldwin.

The objection --

ELAINE SIMOES: My question was regarding --

THE VICE CHAIR: The objection is sustained. We're not
going to allow it. 1It's not related to this
docket, so it's not going to be admitted.

So, please continue.

ELAINE SIMOES: My question is regarding the modeling.
The modeling can be simulated in any manner, and
that's why the drive test was requested.

Being a computer engineer -- and I've done
many simulations. I can simulate anything I want.
Hence, the models that they propagate are in
question, and that was the reason I asked for the
drive test.

Moving on. Eagles, have you done due
diligence regarding the Eagles?

THE WITNESS (Hosek): This is Sean Hosek with Trileaf.

Yes, we have. We have evaluated the site and
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coordinated communication with U.S. Fish and
Wildlife and the Connecticut DEP on any possible
concerns with eagles, and there were none for this
site.

ELAINE SIMOES: Has drone coverage been done 660 feet
circular around the cell tower to prove there are
no nests and eagles?

THE WITNESS (Hosek): We have only evaluated the site
itself and communicated with the U.S. Fish who
have lists of sites beyond that, and they did not
indicate to us any concerns.

ELAINE SIMOES: Okay. Wildlife does not necessarily
have all the information. They weren't even aware
that there are eagles here, and they have been put
in testimony.

Do you know that bald eagles are protected?

THE WITNESS (Hosek): Yes, we do.

ELAINE SIMOES: Do you know they have to do more than
just -- you have to do due diligence more than
what you have done to prove that there are no
eagles in the area or nests?

THE WITNESS (Hosek): Yes, and we've -- we've evaluated
the site for that.

ELAINE SIMOES: So, you evaluated all the laws

associated with that and have proven that there
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are no nests in the area of 660 feet surrounding
the tower.

ATTORNEY BALDWIN: Vice Chair Morissette, again, this
question has been asked and answered at least
three or four times now, including the
interrogatories that we responded to on May 7th.

I don't think we can say much more than is
already in those responses.

THE VICE CHAIR: Yes, and the objection is sustained.

ELAINE SIMOES: Okay. So, I was told today to contact
the DEP specifically regarding eagles and for
someone to look into the eagles there, and I was

told today right now that DEP responded that there

were no eagles. Is that correct?
THE WITNESS (Hosek): That is correct. They -- they
responded that the eagles were no -- not a concern

for the site.

ELAINE SIMOES: And have you connected -- consulted the
Connecticut Audubon?

THE WITNESS (Hosek): We have not, and we have not
reached out to them as that was not part of the
normal process.

ELAINE SIMOES: As far as the historical preservation
and archaeological survey, was the area surveyed

for archaeological finds?
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THE WITNESS (Hosek): John Hosek with Trileaf.
Yes, and no -- no items were found.

ELAINE SIMOES: So, within a thousand feet of the cell
tower? Within how much?

THE WITNESS (Hosek): Within the -- within the area of
the -- the tower and the easement.

ELAINE SIMOES: What about regarding access, the access
road?

THE WITNESS (Hosek): Correct, yes. That would be
the ease -- all the proposed easement access and
the tower compound itself.

ELAINE SIMOES: I mentioned in my question that
Barkwood Falls, which is, as I stated, a hundred
homes, has -- severe storms occur. Was those
storms part of your ten-year storm review?

THE WITNESS (Weinpahl): David Weinpahl.

The storm review was limited to the project
limits and the properties shown on the plans.

ELAINE SIMOES: So, the fact that Barkwood Falls has
been hit by two micro storms, basically tornadoes
where trees go every which way, has not been
evaluated for the site?

ATTORNEY BALDWIN: Vice Chair Morissette, I'm just
trying to understand why the weather features at a

site other than the one we're talking about in
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this docket has any relevance to what we're
talking about?

THE VICE CHAIR: Yes, thank you --

ELAINE SIMOES: The question --

THE VICE CHAIR: Thank you, Attorney Baldwin. And I
don't -- quite frankly, I don't see it in any of
the questions that were submitted on May 7th.

So, Ms. Simoes, this is an opportunity for
you to ask additional questions on the two items
that were filed, Exhibits 6 and 7, and I don't see
that listed at all in your questions.

ELAINE SIMOES: Okay. So, my question one, when I
first submitted, mentioned several storms
happening in Barkwood Falls. It's associated with
storms going over Candlewood into the valley of --
I'm sorry, into the river of Lake Lillinonah, and
then hitting Barkwood Falls, the community.

So, that was my first question. You're
stating that that's not part of the questions?

THE VICE CHAIR: The questions of May 7, 2026? I don't
see it.

ELAINE SIMOES: Oh, I can't ask quest -- they answered
that question --

THE VICE CHAIR: Yes, they have answered that question.

ELAINE SIMOES: -- as far as that storm erosion?
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THE VICE CHAIR: They have answered that question in
their interrogatory responses. This is your
second opportunity to ask questions of the
Applicant, and it's limited to the responses
associated with six and seven in the hearing
program.

You're going way beyond the limits of the
hearing on your questions.

ELAINE SIMOES: My question --

THE VICE CHAIR: You're going back to the original
questions. So, please stay on course, please.

ELAINE SIMOES: A question regarding wetlands. Has a
review of wetlands been done this season?

THE WITNESS (Brogie): Martin Brogie; Martin Brogie,
Incorporated.

By this season, I'm wondering if you mean
this past spring? I was out on the site last year
to do the environmental around this time. I don't
imagine conditions have changed very much.

ELAINE SIMOES: Okay. I have one other question, which
is not part of the questions, but it was a
question on testimony that had to be researched
and could not be answered. May I ask it?

THE VICE CHAIR: You're on a short leash, but please

try.
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ELAINE SIMOES: So, at one point for a visual, Homeland

states that only 14 homes will be seeing the tower
and that's in the narrative. And I'd like to know
how they came up with that number since all the
homes at the beach will see the tower when they go
to the beach area. All the homes on the water on
Cove and some on Hidden Brook, all the homes in
Bridgewater will also be seeing the tower.

How did they come up with 14°?

THE WITNESS (Allen): Matt Allen of Saratoga

Associates.

The number in the document is an estimate
based on a visual scan of the viewshed analysis,
which is the tool we have to identify the
geographic area where some portion of the tower is
likely to be visible. So, it gives an area that
you can look at and see whether there is a home
within or nearby where the effective viewshed is.

So, we simply count logically the homes that
fall within or near the viewshed area. 1It's not a
precise number and it is open for interpretation.
So, one can review the viewshed map and determine
whether a specific home is likely or close to
being in an area where visibility could occur.

Visibility is, you know, can be measured from
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either the property or from the home foundation or
the home deck itself. 1It's really open to
interpretation of the viewshed map, but that's how
we come up with the number.

ELAINE SIMOES: Okay. Because my number was much, much
larger. So, I'm surprised there was -- you said
14.

Following the bandwidth and the need, now
that you've been approved to start building on
Wewaka, why wouldn't the propagation maps include
Wewaka antennas on them? Because it will cover
all the 133 and all of Bridgewater and -- well,
the firemen won't be able to put their antennas on
that.

THE WITNESS (Lavin): This is Martin Lavin again.

The intervening terrain prevents this site
from covering over to this area. The original
maps were submitted before the approval was gained
for the Wewaka installation.

The terrain just prevents Wewaka at the
available heights from reaching over to this area.

ELAINE SIMOES: So, how will the terrain impact this
antenna from reaching all the heights? I don't
see how it would reach anything on Cove, because

we're down to 195 versus 350.
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THE WITNESS (Lavin): This is Martin Lavin again.

We stand by our propagation maps. Where they
show coverage, that's where we're predicting
coverage and we're confident that it will be
there.

ELAINE SIMOES: Okay. That's all my questions for now.

THE VICE CHAIR: Thank you, Ms. Simoes.

We will now move on to the appearance by Lake
Lillinonah Shores Condo Association Number One.
Will the intervener present its witness panel for
the purpose of taking the oath? Attorney Bachman
will administer the oath.

Richard Baldelli and Alex Kunkel, are you
with us?

RICHARD BALDELLI: Yes, sir. I'm -- unfortunately, I'm
going to have to ask you -- my hearing aids are on
the fritz. Could I get you to repeat at least the
genesis of what you said to me?

THE VICE CHAIR: Will the intervener present its
witness panel for purposes of taking the oath?

RICHARD BALDELLI: Oh, absolutely.

THE VICE CHAIR: Okay. And Mr. Baldelli, is it you and
Alex Kunkel? 1Is Alex with you?

RICHARD BALDELLI: No, Melinda Davis, the LLC One vice

president is with me.
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THE VICE CHAIR: Well, she's not listed as part --

RICHARD BALDELLI: Correct.

THE VICE CHAIR: She's not listed on the hearing
program -- so, you are the man. You're the
Witness.

RICHARD BALDELLI: Okay.

THE VICE CHAIR: Okay?

RICHARD BALDELLI: Yes, sir.

THE VICE CHAIR: All right. Attorney Bachman, could
you please administer the oath?

ATTORNEY BACHMAN: Thank you, Vice Chair Morissette.

Could you please raise your right hand,
Mr. Baldelli®?
RICHARD BALDETLLTI,
called as a witness, being sworn by THE
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR, was examined and

testified under oath as follows:

ATTORNEY BACHMAN: Thank you.

THE VICE CHAIR: Mr. Baldelli, you have offered the
exhibits listed under the hearing program as Roman
numeral 3, Bl through '8 for identification
purposes. Is there any objection to marking these
exhibits for identification purposes only at this

time, Mr. Baldelli?
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WITNESS (Baldelli): No, no objection.

VICE CHAIR: Thank you.

Richard Baldelli, did you prepare or assist
in the preparation of Exhibits 3, Bl through '8?

WITNESS (Baldelli): Yes, I did.

VICE CHAIR: Do you have any additions,
clarifications, deletions or modifications to
those documents?

WITNESS (Baldelli): Not at this time, no.

VICE CHAIR: Are these exhibits true and accurate
to the best of your knowledge?

WITNESS (Baldelli): To the best of my knowledge,
yes.

VICE CHAIR: And do you offer these exhibits as
your testimony here today?

WITNESS (Baldelli): Yes, I do.

VICE CHAIR: Does any party or intervener object to
the admission of Lake Lillinonah Shores Condo
Association Number One's exhibits?

Attorney Baldwin?

ATTORNEY BALDWIN: No objection, Mr. Morissette.

THE

Thank you.
VICE CHAIR: Thank you. First Selectman Dunn is
not here.

John Howard, Steve Jalil, any objection?
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JOHN HOWARD: No objection.

THE VICE CHAIR: Boris Shekhtman?

THE WITNESS (Baldelli): No objection.

THE VICE CHAIR: Paska Nayden?

PASKA NAYDEN: No objection.

THE VICE CHAIR: Elaine Simoes?

ELAINE SIMOES: No objection.

THE VICE CHAIR: Thank you. The exhibits are hereby
admitted.

We will now begin with cross-examination of
Lake Lillinonah Shores Condo Association Number
One by the Council starting with Mr. Perrone,
followed by Ms. Hall. Mr. Perrone?

MR. PERRONE: Thank you, Mr. Vice Chair.

My first question is, how many acres is the
Lake Lillinonah condominium's property at 38
Hidden Brook Drive?

THE WITNESS (Baldelli): The condominium property of
LLSCA 1 and 2 and our recreation area totals out
at approximately 40 acres.

MR. PERRONE: Referencing the transcript of the last
hearing of pages 20 and 21, what is the status of
the site plan and financial proposal for the
alternative access?

THE WITNESS (Baldelli): Mr. Vergati relayed it
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correctly. We are in discussions. We have agreed
on a number, and our attorney has forwarded our
bylaws to Mr. Vergati of Homeland so that they can
do the review that they believe that they have to
do.

MR. PERRONE: Does LLSCA 1 prefer to have the tower
access on its property?

THE WITNESS (Baldelli): When you say, on its property,
do you mean our -- on the LLSCA property?

MR. PERRONE: Yes.

THE WITNESS (Baldelli): Yeah. Yes, the -- the earth
disturbance will be minimal, very minimal and
almost level, as I believe one of the engineers
had relayed to you, or to the Siting Council.

So, the impact to this, to the environment
will be much less if they can come through our
property.

MR. PERRONE: And referencing page 34 of the
transcript, if the proposed tower is approved,
does LLSCA 1 have a preference as to the color or
finish of the tower, such as all galvanized gray,
or the two-tone brown at the bottom and gray at
the top?

THE WITNESS (Baldelli): Yes, we have a preference for

the tower and the compound. We would prefer a
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darker color, whether it's a brownish or a green,
whatever someone with a good eye for color
determines from the treetops down, and then a
lighter color from the treetops up, and the
compound to be -- the fence for the compound to be
a darker color.

And I believe we discussed with Mr. Vergati
the possibility, if needed and if both parties
agree, to perhaps additional plantings. It may or
may not be required to camouflage the compound a
little bit more.

PERRONE: Thank you. That's all I have.
WITNESS (Baldelli): Thank you.
VICE CHAIR: Thank you, Mr. Perrone.

We'll now continue the cross-examination by
Ms. Hall, followed by Mr. Carter. Ms. Hall?

HALL: I have no additional questions. Thank you.
VICE CHAIR: Thank you.

Continuing cross-examination by Mr. Carter,

followed by Dr. Williams. Mr. Carter?
CARTER: Thank you, Mr. Vice Chair.

I have no further questions.

VICE CHAIR: Thank you. Continuing
cross-examination by Dr. Williams, followed by

Mr. Golembiewski. Dr. Williams?
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WILLIAMS: Nothing further from me. Thank you.
VICE CHAIR: Thank you.
Continuing cross-examination by
Mr. Golembiewski, followed by Mr. Nguyen.
Mr. Golembiewski?
GOLEMBIEWSKI: Thank you.
I have no questions. Thank you.
VICE CHAIR: Thank you.
Continuing cross-examination by Mr. Nguyen,
followed by Mr. Lynch. Mr. Nguyen?
NGUYEN: I have no questions.
VICE CHAIR: Thank you.
Continuing cross-examination by Mr. Lynch.
LYNCH: I have no questions.
VICE CHAIR: Thank you. And I have no questions.
We'll now continue with cross-examination by

the Applicant, Attorney Baldwin.

ATTORNEY BALDWIN: Vice Chair Morissette, I have no

THE

questions, but I would like to thank, on behalf of
Homeland Towers and Verizon, the condominium
association for their cooperation with regard to
the alternative access.
VICE CHAIR: Thank you, Attorney Baldwin.
We'll now continue with cross-examination by

First Selectman Dunn -- but unfortunately he's not
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with us this afternoon.

We'll continue with cross-examination of Lake
Lillinonah Shores Condo Association by
Electromagnetic Technologies Industries, Inc, John
Howard and Steve Jalil.

JOHN HOWARD: Okay.

THE VICE CHAIR: Any questions?

JOHN HOWARD: Questions?

STEVE JALIL: I'm done.

JOHN HOWARD: We don't have any questions.

THE VICE CHAIR: No questions? Very good. Thank you.

We'll continue with cross-examination of Lake
Lillinonah Shores Condo Association Number One by
Boris Shekhtman, please.

THE WITNESS (Baldelli): 1I'm speaking on behalf of
Mr. Shekhtman. He's LLSCA 2. I represent both
associations.

THE VICE CHAIR: Okay. Do you have any questions?

THE WITNESS (Baldelli): 1I'm sorry for not clarifying
that before.

THE VICE CHAIR: Thank you.

Do you any questions of yourself?

THE WITNESS (Baldelli): Plenty, but nothing germane to
this situation.

THE VICE CHAIR: Very good. Thank you.
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We'll now continue with cross-examination by
Paska Nayden.

PASKA NAYDEN: I have just one quick question, having
lived in a condo for a while at one time. Did you
obtain the whole association's approval for this?
Was that a vote that was taken by association?

THE WITNESS (Baldelli): In items like this, the bylaws
give the power to do that to the boards of
directors.

PASKA NAYDEN: Okay. Thank you.

THE WITNESS (Baldelli): You're welcome.

PASKA NAYDEN: No further.

THE VICE CHAIR: Thank you. We'll now continue with
cross-examination by Elaine Simoes.

ELAINE SIMOES: I have no questions.

THE VICE CHAIR: Very good. Thank you.

The next item on the agenda is the appearance
by the Town of Brookfield, and first Selectman
Dunn unfortunately was not able to attend today.
So, we will move on with the appearance of
Electromagnetic Technologies Industries, ETI.

Will the intervener present its witness panel
for the purpose of taking the oath? Attorney
Bachman will administer the oath.

John Howard and Steve Jalil, please?
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JOHN HOWARD: Yes.
THE VICE CHAIR: Yes. Attorney Bachman, please
administer the oath.
ATTORNEY BACHMAN: Thank you, Vice Chair Morissette.
If you could please raise your right hand?
J OHN HOWARD,
STEVE JALTIL,
called as witnesses, being sworn by
THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR, were examined and

testified under oath as follows:

ATTORNEY BACHMAN: Thank you.

THE VICE CHAIR: Thank you. We'll now do the
verification of ETI exhibits. John Howard and
Steve Jalil, you have offered the exhibits listed
under the hearing program as Roman numeral 4, Bl
through '4 for identification purposes. 1Is there
any objection to making these exhibits for
identification purposes only at this time?

THE WITNESS (Jalil): No.

THE WITNESS (Howard): No objection.

THE VICE CHAIR: Thank you. John Howard and Steve
Jalil, did you prepare or assist in the
preparation of Exhibits 4, Bl through '4°?

THE WITNESS (Howard): Yes.
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THE WITNESS (Jalil): Yes.

THE VICE CHAIR: Do you have any additions,
clarifications, deletions, or modifications to
those documents?

THE WITNESS (Jalil): No.

THE WITNESS (Howard): No.

THE VICE CHAIR: Very good. Are these exhibits true
and accurate to the best of your knowledge-?

THE WITNESS (Howard): Yes, they are.

THE VICE CHAIR: And do you offer these exhibits as
your testimony today?

THE WITNESS (Howard): Correct.

THE WITNESS (Jalil): Yes.

THE VICE CHAIR: Does any intervener object to the
admission of the ETI exhibits? Attorney Baldwin?

ATTORNEY BALDWIN: No objection.

THE VICE CHAIR: Thank you. Attorney Baldelli --
Richard Baldelli, excuse me. Any objection?

Richard Baldelli, any objection?

RICHARD BALDELLI: No objections.

THE VICE CHAIR: Thank you.

First Selectman Dunn is not here.
Paska Nayden, any objection?
PASKA NAYDEN: No objection.

THE VICE CHAIR: Elaine Simoes?
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ELAINE SIMOES: No objection.

THE VICE CHAIR: Thank you. The exhibits are admitted.

We'll now begin with cross-examination of ETI
by the Council starting with Mr. Perrone.

MR. PERRONE: Thank you, Mr. Vice Chair.

Referencing ETI's request for intervener
status, ETI's technology was deployed in the
Caribbean and in New Zealand. My question is, has
it been deployed anywhere in the U.S. or any U.S.
Territories as of yet?

THE WITNESS (Howard): It has been deployed in two
cities, in San Francisco and in Chicago. It has
been deployed in twelve countries as well.

MR. PERRONE: And what type of applications were they
used for in those two cities?

THE WITNESS (Howard): Some of them were Wi-Fi, and
some of them were frequencies that were awarded by
the FCC.

MR. PERRONE: Turning to ETI's response to council
interrogatory number two, would both the 60 Vale
Road and 39 Carmen Hill Road sites be necessary to
provide comparable coverage and capacity?

THE WITNESS (Howard): The one in Carmen Hill is a
prime position to cover -- to provide coverage in

the area that is unserved at the moment.
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PERRONE: If the proposed tower is not constructed,
could ETI's technology meet the needs of emergency
responders?

WITNESS (Howard): Yes.

PERRONE: So, your technology is not just limited
to commercial carriers.

You could cover public safety as well?

WITNESS (Howard): We can cover public safety
depending upon the -- whatever frequency is used.
It is, let's say, agnostic in frequency.

So yes, we can do that.

PERRONE: Referencing the response to council
interrogatory number three, if ETI's alternative
is employed, I understand it would require an RF
feasibility study. Would it also require a
structural analysis to verify that the tower could
support the equipment?

WITNESS (Howard): The equipment are no, let's say,
different in weight or the dimensions of existing
systems and -- but we do need to do a survey,
let's say, of the area. We always do that.

We don't only depend on, let's say, software.
We do also a live test and check of the area that
needs to be covered.

PERRONE: Do you need an open line of sight for
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your technology to work?

THE WITNESS (Howard): Not necessary.

MR. PERRONE: And lastly, I'm going to turn to the

attachment three, which is the Carmen Hill Road
two proposed site diagram drawing. My questions
will be centered around that.

Could you give us a summary of the site
diagram attachment three and indicate how it would

work?

THE WITNESS (Jalil): Carmen Hill Road.
THE WITNESS (Howard): Which is the actual --
THE WITNESS (Jalil) : Yeah.

THE WITNESS (Howard): Yeah. Well, there is -- this is

merely an example. This shows a one-beam system
that there is a certain area that needs to
propagate, which is called the first Fresnel zone,
and it is directed towards the area that is
unserved.

We can make the beams narrow or wide at will,
and therefore, once we examine the area we can
decide how many beams we are going to use. It
doesn't have to be just one. It could be a
number. We have the ability to provide 2,048
beams. Of course, this is used for military

purposes, not so much for commercial.
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So, after we do the actual survey, then we
will establish a decision as to the number of
beams required.

WITNESS (Jalil): I would just like to add to that,
Mr. Perrone, the -- that caricature or that
pictorial is simply showing that GMA antenna that
has a higher gain as an example with use of Carmen
Hill Road.

PERRONE: Is that design based on or could be based
on the JMA antennas?

WITNESS (Jalil): Yes.

WITNESS (Howard): Correct.

PERRONE: And I have a couple of -- I understand
it's an example, but I just have a couple of other
questions on that figure itself. There's a
150-foot lattice tower up on top of the hill, and
what does that represent?

WITNESS (Jalil): That that -- from our
understanding, that is the current structure that
is there at Carmen Hill Road.

PERRONE: As far as the Carmen Hill Road tower,
which I believe you have dimensions at 150 meters,
is it correct to say that the tower itself is
about 139 meters, and then there's a mast at the

top that covers the other 11°?
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WITNESS (Howard): Yeah.

WITNESS (Jalil): Yeah -- well, there's the -- we
included the terrain height altitude in addition
to the public information about that tower that's
there currently, but our understanding was that it
is a 150-meter tower at Carmen Hill Road.

But we will have to assess further, but we --
we made our assumptions based on a 150-meter
tower.

PERRONE: And do you know if that tower can
structurally support ETI's loading?

WITNESS (Jalil): It will.

WITNESS (Howard): Yeah, I mean it supports the
current antenna and systems.

PERRONE: But with your antenna centerline at 150
meters you would be up at the top of the mast.

Is that correct?

WITNESS (Howard): Correct. We -- we have a way of
avoiding any winds. We have structures that are,
let's say, have openings so that winds can go
through and not affect any movement of the
antenna.

PERRONE: And -- okay. Moving on to 60 Vale Road,
would you have a similar configuration for 60 Vale

Road?
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THE WITNESS (Jalil): So, we -- we would -- we did a
little bit of analysis there and it would involve
an RF survey to -- to actually see the feasibility
of 60 Vale Road. We have to analyze that further,
but we -- we for sure know that Carmen Hill Road
is a viable option for coverage and potentially
Wewaka as well.

THE WITNESS (Howard): Yes, the height of the tower and
the height of the terrain are perfect over the
area that is unserved.

That's why previously I had asked if it's not
that if the tower is -- the new tower is not
needed, would the -- would the Verizon forego
replacement of the tower? And it was an
unequivocally -- unequivocal no. I don't know
why .

MR. PERRONE: I understand the full RF survey has not
been completed, but just roughly speaking, what
would be your minimum requirement of those three
tower locations that you think you would need?

THE WITNESS (Jalil): We -- we are under the
impression, it seems as a first impression, that
Vale Road might not clear that first Fresnel zone,
which would affect dramatically the coverage to

that unserved area.
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We -- we are confident from -- from research
that we've done that Carmen Hill Road clears that
first Fresnel zone using narrow beams.

PERRONE: And lastly, one other question on the
structural. I know we talked about Carmen Hill.
Do you know if Vale Road or Wewaka could
structurally support your equipment?

WITNESS (Howard): Yeah, there should be no
problem. I mean, they're standard equipment.

Why wouldn't they support it?

PERRONE: Thank you. That's all I have.

WITNESS (Howard): Thank you very much.

VICE CHAIR: Thank you Mr. Perrone.

We'll now continue cross-examination by
Ms. Hall.

HALL: I have no questions. Thank you.

VICE CHAIR: We'll now continue cross-examination
by Mr. Carter.

CARTER: Thank you Mr. Vice Chair.

I have no further questions.

VICE CHAIR: Thank you. We'll now continue
cross-examination by Dr. Williams.

WILLIAMS: Nothing from me. Thank you.

VICE CHAIR: Thank you. We'll continue

cross-examination by Mr. Golembiewski.
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Thank you, Mr. Perrone.
THE VICE CHAIR: We'll now continue cross-examination

by Mr. Nguyen.

THE VICE CHAIR: Thank you. We'll continue

cross-examination by Mr. Lynch.

THE VICE CHAIR: Thank you. And I have no questions.
So, at this point we're going to take a
ten-minute break and we will return -- well,
actually a little longer than that, and we'll come
back at 3:40. And we'll continue with
cross-examination of ETI by Attorney Baldwin.
Thank you, everyone. We'll see you in 14

minutes. Thank you.

(Pause: 3:26 p.m. to 3:40 p.m.)

THE VICE CHAIR: Is the Court Reporter back with us?

THE REPORTER: I am, and we are back on the record.

THE VICE CHAIR: Thank you. And we're back on the
record. Very good. We'll continue with
cross-examination of ETI by the Applicants.

Attorney Baldwin?
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ATTORNEY BALDWIN: Thank you, Vice Chair Morissette.
Just one question. Has your technology, the
ETI technology, is it currently in use by any
commercial wireless carrier in the United States?

THE WITNESS (Howard): With two, not the commercial
carriers, but we are in discussions at this moment
with all -- with the three carriers for a
deployment in Pennsylvania.

ATTORNEY BALDWIN: Thank you.

I have no further questions, Vice Chair
Morissette. Thank you.

THE VICE CHAIR: Thank you, Attorney Baldwin.

We'll continue the cross-examination of ETI
by Lake Lillinonah Shores Condo Association Number
One and Number Two. Richard Baldelli, please.

RICHARD BALDELLI: We have no questions.

THE VICE CHAIR: Thank you. We'll continue
cross-examination by First Selectman Dunn -- which
is not here.

We'll continue with cross-examination of ETI
by Paska Nayden. Paska Nayden, please.

PASKA NAYDEN: Thank you so much.

I just have maybe two questions. One, there
are two Carmen Hill towers. One is a guy -- what

did I write down? And another is a lattice.
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What are we talking about for Carmen Hill?
Which one of them? There are two that I saw in
the database -- or maybe I'm wrong.

Is there just one, or are there two?

THE WITNESS (Jalil): So, the one that we -- that we

saw is -- I have the address there. It's about

4.2 kilometers from the unserved area.

PASKA NAYDEN: Okay. But with the other issue, when I

did the site analysis -- okay? And I mapped
out -- my systems engineering kind of comes out
every once in a while, and I plotted out all the
towers in the vicinity of Brookfield that we're
talking about.

And the line of sight, basically transmission
paths pass through those existing paths, like it
was explained earlier, the 90 degree antennas and
the full spectrum. But, you know, that to me
suggests if there's a line of sight there that's
touching on these areas that allegedly have no
service, that suggests that there's a lack -- it's
not a lack of infrastructure. 1It's terrain
vegetation potentially prohibiting some of these
line-of-sight antennas to function properly.

What does your solution offer for that

situation? I'm just curious.
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THE WITNESS (Howard): Yes, the solution is a more than
one-beam antenna that will have different angles
to specifically hit certain areas. And we have
applied this in a solution with three-beam
vertical antenna and a four-beam horizontal
antenna, one antenna doing it all. So --

PASKA NAYDEN: Okay.

THE WITNESS (Howard): But -- sorry. I'm sorry.

PASKA NAYDEN: All right. That's very interesting.

THE WITNESS (Jalil): I just want to -- I want to add.
I want to add to your comment, Ms. Nayden.

PASKA NAYDEN: Sure.

THE WITNESS (Jalil): You mentioned a 90-degree
antenna. So, your beam is covering a horizontal
coverage or an azimuth coverage of 90 degrees.
What does that mean? That means you're getting
interference from 90 degrees of coverage.

If you narrow your beams --

PASKA NAYDEN: Uh-huh?

THE WITNESS (Jalil): -- and you have multiple narrow
beams, you now have dedicated beams to certain
areas without getting interference from the other
coverage area. So, if you look at 90 and you take
a 15-degree beam, you have those other 75 degrees

that are not interfering with that beam.
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A 90-degree beam is getting interference from
all those 90-degree directions. So --

THE WITNESS (Howard): What he's saying is that if you
have 16 at 15 degrees, any noise or interference
comes only from the 15 degrees. The other 75
degrees do not contribute to any signal-to-noise
ratio problem.

PASKA NAYDEN: So, those people should be getting
better cellular service. Right? So --

THE WITNESS (Howard): Absolutely.

PASKA NAYDEN: Okay. Thank you for that. That's it.

THE WITNESS (Howard): Thank you.

THE VICE CHAIR: Thank you, Ms. Nayden.

We'll now continue cross-examination of ETI
by Elaine Simoes. Elaine?

ELAINE SIMOES: Yes, I have one question. Could they
elaborate on the survey and line test that they
mentioned?

THE WITNESS (Howard): We mentioned?

THE WITNESS (Jalil): No. Well, we haven't done any
actual survey.

THE WITNESS (Howard): Yeah, we -- we haven't done any
actual survey. We -- we don't only depend on
software. We do take drives with our spectrum

analyzers and examine the area thoroughly before
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we establish any connections on the tower. So, we
will go -- as I said, we will have equipment with
which we will measure. Of course, you do have

your phone. That's a kind of equipment. If you
cannot connect, obviously you don't have service.

But we would go with a scientific instrument,
a spectrum analyzer, and check the area for
where -- where you receive a signal and where you
don't.

Because you are a forested area, it's
important that there is some connection for
emergencies in the forested area. There was a
death a couple of years ago in New Jersey because
a young lady was injured and died due to
hemorrhaging because she could not connect with
her cell phone. So, we want to cover the whole
area if possible, or at least the unserved area
that you have there.

But it would be, let's say, our thinking is
to cover the whole area because you have forested
areas; you have areas where people may be injured
and not be able to connect. So, we do that for
people, like your Siting Council is doing it for

people.

ELAINE SIMOES: So, basically you're stating you would
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drive through Barkwood Falls community and the
other communities that they claim gaps?

THE WITNESS (Howard): Absolutely.

ELAINE SIMOES: Almost like a drive test?

THE WITNESS (Howard): Yes. So that, that's why we
need three days to go through the area and do our
measurements and come to the conclusions, to
finalize our conclusions.

We don't only depend on our software.

ELAINE SIMOES: So, better to do a drive test than just
depend on your software?

THE WITNESS (Howard): We do -- we do not just depend
on our software, because if you can't -- if -- if
you cannot connect, I cannot blame the software.
I cannot say, but the software said it should
work.

The object is for the unserved areas to be
served. That's the ultimate goal, whatever the
software states.

ELAINE SIMOES: Thank you for your answer. That is it.

I have no further questions.

THE VICE CHAIR: Very good. Thank you.

And thank you, gentlemen.

THE WITNESS (Howard): Thank you.

THE VICE CHAIR: Okay. Next on the agenda is the
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appearance of Lake Lillinonah Shores Condo
Association Number Two. Mr. Baldelli has
testified that he's representing association
number two. So therefore, he has already
testified. I am proposing that we incorporate his
previous testimony as being related to association
number two.

Attorney Bachman, is there anything that
needs to be done to make that happen?

ATTORNEY BACHMAN: Thank you, Vice Chair Morissette.

I would just ask each of the parties and
interveners if they would have any objection to
incorporating that testimony by reference.

Thank you.

THE VICE CHAIR: Thank you, Attorney Bachman.

Attorney Baldwin, is there any objection?

ATTORNEY BALDWIN: No, Vice Chair Morissette.
No objection.
THE VICE CHAIR: Thank you.
John Howard and Steve Jalil, any objection?
STEVE JALIL: No objection.
THE VICE CHAIR: Thank you.

Richard Baldelli, is there any objection from

association number one?

RICHARD BALDELLI: No, there's no objection.
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THE VICE CHAIR: Okay. First Selectman Dunn, not here.
Paska Nayden, any objection?

PASKA NAYDEN: No objection.

THE VICE CHAIR: Thank you.
Elaine Simoes, any objection?

ELAINE SIMOES: No objection.

THE VICE CHAIR: Very good. And with that, we will
combine the testimony of Lake Lillinonah Shores
Condo Association Number One with Lake Lillinonah
Shores Condo Association Number two. Thank you.

We'll now move on. We will move on to the
appearance by Paska Nayden. Will the intervener
and CEPA intervener present its witness panel for
purposes of taking the oath? Attorney Bachman
will administer the oath. Paska Nayden?

PASKA NAYDEN: Yes, I'm here.

THE VICE CHAIR: Thank you. Attorney Bachman?

ATTORNEY BACHMAN: Thank you, Vice Chair Morissette.

Ms. Nayden, can you just tell me that you
have your right hand raised, please?

PASKA NAYDEN: I have my right hand raised, yes.

ATTORNEY BACHMAN: Thank you.
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PASKA NAYDEN,

called as a witness, being sworn by THE
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR, was examined and

testified under oath as follows:

ATTORNEY BACHMAN: Thank you.

THE

THE

THE

THE

THE

THE

THE

THE

THE

VICE CHAIR: Thank you, Attorney Bachman.

We'll now do the verification of Paska
Nayden's exhibits. Paska Nayden, have you offered
the exhibits listed in the hearing program as
Roman numeral 7, Bl and '2 for identification
purposes?

WITNESS (Nayden): I submitted a document that was

dated, to the Siting Council, on April 28th.

VICE CHAIR: You have one -- well, the request for
intervener status is the first one on March 25th.
WITNESS (Nayden): Yeah.

VICE CHAIR: And then the pre-filed testimony of
April 28th.

WITNESS (Nayden): Correct. That's it.

VICE CHAIR: Very good. 1Is there any objection of
marking these exhibits for identification purposes
only at this time?

WITNESS (Nayden): No objection.

VICE CHAIR: Paska Nayden, did you prepare or
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assist in the preparation of Exhibit 7, Bl and '2?

THE WITNESS (Nayden): Yes, I did.

THE VICE CHAIR: Do you have any additions,
clarifications, deletions, or modifications to
those documents?

THE WITNESS (Nayden): No, not at this time.

THE VICE CHAIR: Are these exhibits true and accurate
to the best of your knowledge?

THE WITNESS (Nayden): Yes, they are.

THE VICE CHAIR: And do you offer these exhibits as
your testimony here today?

THE WITNESS (Nayden): Yes, I do.

THE VICE CHAIR: Thank you.

Does any party or intervener object to the
admission of Paska Nayden's exhibits?
Attorney Baldwin?

ATTORNEY BALDWIN: No objection.

THE VICE CHAIR: Richard Baldelli on behalf of Lake
Lillinonah Shores Condo Associations One and Two?

RICHARD BALDELLI: No objection.

THE VICE CHAIR: First Selectman Dunn -- which is not
here. John Howard and Steve Jalil®?

JOHN HOWARD: No, no objection.

STEVE JALIL: No objection.

THE VICE CHAIR: Okay. Elaine Simoes?
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ELAINE SIMOES: No objection.

THE VICE CHAIR: Thank you. The exhibits are hereby
admitted.

We'll now begin cross-examination of Paska
Nayden by the Council, starting with Mr. Perrone.

MR. PERRONE: Thank you, Mr. Vice Chair.

I just have one question. If the proposed
tower is approved, do you have any preference as
to the color or finish of the tower? For example,
all galvanized gray or a two-tone design, brown up
to the treeline and galvanized above?

THE WITNESS (Nayden): I don't have an objection. As,
of course, we don't want to see this stuff as
we're driving around in beautiful, scenic
Brookfield, which I've enjoyed for a long time.
So, if this is approved, it should be disguised as
much as possible. I don't care about color.

MR. PERRONE: Thank you. That's all I have.

THE VICE CHAIR: We'll now continue with
cross-examination by Ms. Hall.

MS. HALL: No questions. Thank you.

THE VICE CHAIR: Thank you. Mr. Carter?

MR. CARTER: Thank you. I have no questions.

THE VICE CHAIR: Dr. Williams?

DR. WILLIAMS: Nothing from me.
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VICE CHAIR: Mr. Golembiewski?
GOLEMBIEWSKI: I have no questions. Thank you.
VICE CHAIR: Mr. Nguyen?

Mr. Nguyen?

(No response.)

VICE CHAIR: Mr. Lynch?

LYNCH: No questions.

VICE CHAIR: Thank you. And I have no questions.
We'll now continue with cross-examination of

Paska Nayden by the Applicant, Attorney Baldwin.

ATTORNEY BALDWIN: We have no questions, Vice Chair

THE

Morissette. Thank you.
VICE CHAIR: Thank you. We'll continue with
cross-examination of Paska Nayden by Lake

Lillinonah Shores Condo Associations One and Two.

RICHARD BALDELLI: No questions.

THE

VICE CHAIR: Very good. Thank you.
First Selectman Dunn is not here.
We'll continue with cross-examination of

Paska Nayden Dean by John Howard or Steve Jalil.

STEVE JALIL: No questions.

JOHN HOWARD: No questions.

THE

VICE CHAIR: Thank you. We'll continue with
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cross-examination of Paska Nayden by Elaine
Simoes. Elaine?

ELAINE SIMOES: No questions.

THE VICE CHAIR: Thank you. We'll now move on to the
appearance of Elaine Simoes. Will the intervener
and CEPA intervener present its witness panel for
purposes of taking of the oath? Attorney Bachman
will administer the oath to Elaine Simoes.

Attorney Bachman, please administer the oath.

ATTORNEY BACHMAN: Thank you, Vice Chair Morissette.

Ms. Simoes, could you please state for the
record that you have your right hand raised?

ELAINE SIMOES: I have my right hand raised.

ATTORNEY BACHMAN: Thank you.

ELATINE SIMOES,

called as a witness, being sworn by THE
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR, was examined and

testified under oath as follows:

ATTORNEY BACHMAN: Thank you.
THE VICE CHAIR: Thank you, Attorney Bachman.
Elaine Simoes, you have offered the exhibits
listed under the hearing program as Roman numeral
8, Bl and '2 for identification purposes. Is

there objection to marking the exhibits for
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identification purposes only at this time?

THE WITNESS (Simoes): No objection.

THE VICE CHAIR: Thank you.

Elaine Simoes, did you prepare and assist in
the preparation of Exhibits 8, Bl and '2?

THE WITNESS (Simoes): I did.

THE VICE CHAIR: Do you have any additions,
clarifications, deletions or modifications to
these documents?

THE WITNESS (Simoes): Not at this time.

THE VICE CHAIR: Are these exhibits true and accurate
to the best of your knowledge?

THE WITNESS (Simoes): They are.

THE VICE CHAIR: And do you offer these exhibits as
your testimony here today?

THE WITNESS (Simoes): I do.

THE VICE CHAIR: Does any party or intervener object to
the admission of Elaine Simoes' exhibits?

Attorney Baldwin?

ATTORNEY BALDWIN: No objection.

THE VICE CHAIR: Richard Baldelli?

RICHARD BALDELLI: No objections.

THE VICE CHAIR: First Selectman Dunn is not here.

John Howard, Steve Jalil?

STEVE JALIL: No objections.
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JOHN HOWARD: No objections.

THE VICE CHAIR: Thank you. Paska Nayden?

PASKA NAYDEN: No objection.

THE VICE CHAIR: Thank you. The exhibits are hereby
admitted.

We'll now begin cross-examination of Elaine
Simoes by the Council, starting with Mr. Perrone.

MR. PERRONE: Thank you, Mr. Vice Chair.

One question. If the proposed tower is
approved, do you have any preference as to the
color or finish of the tower? For example, all
galvanized gray or a two-tone design, brown up to
the treeline and galvanized gray above that?

THE WITNESS (Simoes): My request is the same as
Ms. Nayden, to be disguised as much as possible
because the tower will be in full view of our
beach and our docks, and that includes a hundred
families in our community.

MR. PERRONE: Thank you. That's all I have.

THE VICE CHAIR: Thank you, Mr. Perrone.

We'll now continue the cross-examination by
Ms. Hall.

MS. HALL: I have no questions. Thank you.
THE VICE CHAIR: Thank you. Mr. Carter?

MR. CARTER: Thank you, Mr. Vice Chair.
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I have no questions.
THE VICE CHAIR: Dr. Williams?
DR. WILLIAMS: No questions.
THE VICE CHAIR: Mr. Golembiewski?
MR. GOLEMBIEWSKI: I have no questions. Thank you.

THE VICE CHAIR: Thank you. Mr. Nguyen?

(No response.)

THE VICE CHAIR: Mr. Lynch?

MR. LYNCH: No questions.

THE VICE CHAIR: Thank you. And I have no questions.

We'll now continue the cross-examination of

Ellen Simoes by the Applicant. Attorney Baldwin?

ATTORNEY BALDWIN: No questions, Vice Chair Morissette.
Thank you.

THE VICE CHAIR: Thank you. We'll continue the
cross-examination of Elaine Simoes by Lake
Lillinonah Shores Condo Associations One and Two.

Richard Baldelli, any questions?

RICHARD BALDELLI: No questions.

THE VICE CHAIR: Thank you.

No cross-examination by First Selectman Dunn.
We'll now continue the cross-examination by

Electromagnetic Technologies Industries. John
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Howard or Steve Jalil?

STEVE JALIL: No, no questions.

JOHN HOWARD: No questions.

THE VICE CHAIR: Thank you. We'll continue the
cross-examination of Elaine Simoes by Paska
Nayden. Paska Nayden, please.

PASKA NAYDEN: Can I just ask one question, please?

THE VICE CHAIR: Certainly.

PASKA NAYDEN: Ms. Simoes, what prompted you to be an
intervener? Is that allowed for me to ask?
Because most people in a community don't take this
time to get educated and informed and do an
amazing amount of research, as Ms. Simoes has
done.

So, I was just kind of curious what prompted
her.

THE VICE CHAIR: Well, it's outside of the scope, but
I'll let her respond.

PASKA NAYDEN: Thank you.

THE WITNESS (Simoes): I have been in this community
over 20 years and enjoying our lake and our cove,
and have seen people even come up to me this past
weekend at the beach to say that they didn't have
service on Cove Road, but now they do, and they

don't understand why there's a tower going up.
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We've had people in our community that are
involved in the Town and the people in the Town
have told them that they cannot represent
themselves associated with the tower and not
meeting the tower and not wanting the tower. So,
there are many people in our community that want
to speak out, but because of political reasons
they haven't been able to.

I spoke to Friends of the Lake. Again, they
felt politically they could not speak out even
though they were against the tower. 1It's a whole
conglomerate of people associated with Lake
Lillinonah. All five towns are part of Friends of
the Lake.

I spoke to First Light, who you can't move a
rock under the 220 line, and they had no comment
on the cell tower even though it will impact the
eagles and other environmental parts and be an
eyesore, but they could not speak out because of
political reasons. So, there are hundreds of
people wanting to speak out, but no one could step
up.

And since I've been watching cell towers pop
up all over Brookfield, I felt it was my duty to

speak up at least for my hundred-home community,
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if not for others. Thank you.
PASKA NAYDEN: Thank you, Elaine.
No further questions.
THE VICE CHAIR: Thank you. And thank you, everyone.
Before closing the evidentiary record in this
matter, the Connecticut Siting Council announces
that briefs and proposed findings of fact may be
filed with the Council by any party or intervener
no later than June 18, 2026.

ATTORNEY BACHMAN: Excuse me, Vice Chair Morissette?

THE VICE CHAIR: Yes?

ATTORNEY BACHMAN: Before we close the evidentiary
record, perhaps we can address the Town's exhibits
that were not subject to cross-examination, and
possibly transfer them to the municipal comment
section of the evidentiary record?

THE VICE CHAIR: Yes. Attorney Baldwin?

ATTORNEY BALDWIN: That sounds like the right thing to
do. Thank you, Vice Chair Morissette.

THE VICE CHAIR: Thank you. Therefore, the First
Selectman's exhibits will be transferred.

Thank you, Attorney Bachman. Anything else?

ATTORNEY BACHMAN: That takes care of it.

Thank you very much, Vice Chair Morissette.

THE VICE CHAIR: Thank you. Thank you for the
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reminder.

Okay. Before closing the evidentiary record
in this matter, the Connecticut Siting Council
announces that briefs and proposed findings of
fact may be filed with the Council by any party or
intervener no later than June 18, 2026. The
submission of briefs or proposed findings of fact
are not required by this Council. Rather, we
leave it to the choice of the parties and
interveners.

Anyone who has not become a party or
intervener but who desires to make his or her
views known to the Council may file written
statements with the Council within 30 days of the
date hereof.

The Council will issue draft findings of fact
and thereafter parties and interveners may
identify errors and inconsistencies between the
Council's draft finding of fact and the record.
However, no new information, no new evidence, no
arguments, and no reply briefs without permission
will be considered by the Council.

Copies of the transcript of this hearing will
be deposited in the Brookfield Town Clerk's

office.
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I hereby declare this hearing adjourned. And

thank you, everyone, for your participation.

(End: 4:01 p.m.)
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CERTIFICATE

I hereby certify that the foregoing 94 pages
are a complete and accurate computer-aided
transcription of my original verbatim notes taken
of the REMOTE TELECONFERENCE MEETING of THE
CONNECTICUT SITING COUNCIL CONTINUED EVIDENTIARY
HEARING In Re: DOCKET NO. 548, HOMELAND TOWERS,
LLC, AND CELLCO PARTNERSHIP D/B/A VERIZON WIRELESS
APPLICATION FOR A CERTIFICATE OF ENVIRONMENTAL
COMPATIBILITY AND PUBLIC NEED FOR THE
CONSTRUCTION, MAINTENANCE, AND OPERATION OF A
TELECOMMUNICATIONS FACILITY AND ASSOCIATED
EQUIPMENT LOCATED AT 38 AND 42A HIDDEN BROOK
DRIVE, BROOKFIELD, CONNECTICUT, which was held
before JOHN MORISSETTE, THE VICE CHAIR, on May 19,
2026.

—

Robert G. Dixon, CVR-M 857
Notary Public
My Commission Expires: 6/30/2030
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